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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

The Trustees (who are also Directors for the purposes of Company Law) present their annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Harmeny Education Trust Limited for the year 1 April 2023 to 31
March 2024. The Annual report serves the purposes of both a Trustees' report and a directors' report under
company law. The Trustees confirm that the Annual report and financial statements of the Trust comply with the
current statutory requirements, the requirements of the Trust's governing document and the provisions of the
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102) (effective 1 January
2019).

Objectives and activities

Harmeny Education Trust Limited (the Trust or Harmeny) was incorporated on 6 December 1995 and is a
registered Scottish charity. The assets and liabilities were transferred to the Trust on 21 December 1995 by its
predecessor organisation, Save the Children, who had responsibility for running the school from 1958 until that
date.

The principal activity of the Trust is to advance in Scotland the education, care and wellbeing of children and
young people who have additional support needs arising from social and emotional difficulties and, by the
operation of Harmeny School and otherwise, to provide services on a day or residential basis and all related
work.

There is one constituent function within the Trust:
. Harmeny School (which incorporates Harmeny Outdoors).
Harmeny School

The school provides specialist education and care services on a day and year-round residential basis, for
children of primary up to age 18. As a Grant Aided Special School, we work with children who have complex
social, emotional and behavioural needs. Services are provided on both a national and regional basis, with
children being referred by local authorities throughout the whole of Scotland. The school is registered with the
Care Inspectorate for up to 32 residential places and also provides day places for up to 8 children.

Harmeny Outdoors, which is part of Harmeny School, provides a range of adventurous and environmental
activities, which are fully integrated into the curriculum, for all children who attend Harmeny.

Strategic plan and performance management

Harmenys two-year Strategic Plan (August 2023 to July 2025) includes the following strategic priorities:
Further develop our participation policy and practice, ensuring the voices of children and young people are
at the heart of our decision-making

. Implement The Harmeny Way practice framework

. Continuously improve our care and education services

. Further develop our staffing and leadership

. Enhance our environment

. Strengthen our reputation through robust communications, marketing and fundraising

A regular review of activities detailed in the Strategic Plan is carried out by the Trustees and leadership team in
order to measure the success of the Trust in achieving their set objectives.

Overall measurement of the performance of the school is assessed by way of reports resulting from external
reviews carried out by the Care Inspectorate and Education Scotland, as well as through Harmeny's own internal
quality assurance systems including progress on each child's personal plans.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Achievements and performance

The charity continued to make significant achievements during the financial year 2023-24.

Strategic developments

A new Strategic Plan was developed for the period August 2023 to July 2025. It was agreed to restrict the new
plan to 2 years to reflect a change in the role of Chief Executive from 1st April 2024 and to allow the new Chief
Executive time to familiarise himself with the organisation before setting a new 3 year plan from 2025. The Plan
includes a period of consolidation to embed our new 15+ services and to explore the additional care, supported
accommodation, education, training and employment services required for young people already placed at
Harmeny, aged 15-18, as well as up to their 26th birthday. This is in response to The Promise Scotland’s aim to
make sure that services do everything in their power to ensure that all care-experienced children and young
people grow up loved, safe and respected.

Following a successful capital appeal, our new secondary learning hub, was completed to an excellent standard
in September 2023. The new building was officially opened in November 2023 by Fraser McKinlay, Chief
Executive of The Promise Scotland. The Trustees are delighted that the new building was awarded the Gold
Award for Education Building or Project in the 2024 Scottish Design Awards.

A ten-year Estates Strategy was also developed, to ensure Harmeny's 35-acre estate will continue to be
sustainably developed as a lasting legacy for future children and young people placed at Harmeny.

Our unique and innovative therapeutic practice framework — the Harmeny Way — was completed and launched
internally, along with a comprehensive training programme. The Harmeny Way will provide all staff in Harmeny
with a valuable resource to guide them in their work with complex children and young people who have all
suffered some form of early life trauma.

High quality services

We continued to provide high quality care and education services for children with complex additional support
needs from primary age upwards. With the completion of the new secondary learning hub, we are now able to
extend our support for young people aged 15+.

During the year, our residential and day pupil numbers remained healthy, across six cottage and class groups.
However, due to national care staffing shortages, we had to temporarily place pupil referrals on hold as we
recruited into residential child care vacancies. We have been able to reduce the number of vacancies and are
now open for new referrals into the service.

We enhanced our Care team through the creation of a part-time Social Worker and a Therapies Manager role,
and implemented a new care staffing rota, in order to ensure the wellbeing of staff as well as meet the needs of
children and young people in our care.

Harmeny Here4U continued into its second year, with the project continuing to provide support to our former
pupils. The project has already connected with 55% of former pupils in the identified project cohort of those
under 26 years old, as well as former pupils outside of this age bracket.

In the first 18 months the project hosted 63 individual visits by former pupils, the youngest of whom was 12 years
old and the oldest 71 years old, and supported 14 ‘Helping Hand’ informal volunteering sessions at Harmeny.
We have raised awareness of the support that those with care experience are entitled to, and made this support
accessible by helping individuals to make referrals and applications.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Achievements and performance (continued)

The project has also interviewed over 30 former pupils to gain their views, so we can learn from the experiences
of those who have lived at Harmeny. This exciting aspect of the project has led to us hearing overwhelmingly
positive feedback about Harmeny and the impact it has had on our former pupils into adulthood, as well as
gathering feedback about aspects of care and education at Harmeny that could have been better. This valuable
feedback is being used to inform the development of practice at Harmeny as the organisation continues to
develop.

In June, we received our first unannounced Care Inspection since 2018, achieving the following grades: 5 (very
good) for “Children and young people feel safe, feel loved and get the most out of life” and 4 (good) for
“Leaders and staff have the capacity and resources to meet and champion children and young people’s
needs and rights.” Key inspection findings included: “Harmeny continue to look for ways to improve the lives of
children and young people by introducing new and innovative services”; and “Children and young people are
cared for in a nurturing and therapeutic environment.”

As a reflective organisation, a significant amount of work has gone into responding to the recommendations
coming from that inspection: that we should seek to minimise the use of physical interventions in our dealings
with the young people and also continuously improve our Quality Assurance procedures.

Our new and creative secondary curriculum was further developed, in partnership with local schools, colleges
and the private sector, with young people enjoying a range of vocational and outdoor learning opportunities,
delivered from our new learning hub, and Developing the Young Workforce days allowing young people to be
inspired by a range of skills-based opportunities.

Children’s rights and participation

Harmeny continued to ensure that children and young people were at the heart of the organisation, through pupil
council meetings, consultation with the trustees, regular opportunity to meet with a Who Cares? Scotland
advocacy worker, active involvement with their care and education plans, and support in expressing their views
and wishes at review meetings and Children’s Hearings.

Our Parent and Carer Group also met regularly, allowing mutual support, opportunity to participate in school
events and feedback on Care and Education services.

A new Rights and Participation Policy was developed, in line with the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child
(UNCRC) and other key legislation, along with the key messages contained in the Promise (the ten-year strategy
which followed Scotland’s Independent Care Review). We received visits from the Children’s Commissioner, in
May 2023, and Director-General, Education and Justice, in February 2024 — both of whom were highly
complimentary about the services we provide.

Change in Leadership

In April 2024, Neil Squires left Harmeny after nearly 14 years as Chief Executive. The Trustees would like to
thank Neil for his extraordinary contribution to Harmeny during his tenure and wish him all the best for the future.
Neil ensured a smooth transition of leadership by organising a month’s handover period with his successor.

Neil is replaced by Gavin Calder who joins Harmeny with over 25 years’ experience in educational leadership.
The trustees are delighted to welcome Gavin to the team. Gavin was hugely grateful to Neil for the work he put
into his induction programme and the support given to him over the month’s handover period.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Achievements and performance (continued)
Fundraising

In July 2023 we were proud to reach our Learning for Life Appeal fundraising target of £3,152,711 to build our
new secondary vocational learning facilities — The Learning Hub. During the year, a total of £419,199 was
donated to the appeal (including Gift Aid). In addition, a further £88,615 was donated (including Gift Aid) to
furnish the Learning Hub ahead of its opening on 23rd October 2023.

We are hugely appreciative to all our supporters who helped complete the Learning for Life Appeal. Special
thanks also go to the Nancie Massey Charitable Trust, The Ryvoan Trust, Robert Barr's Charitable Trust, The
Murray Foundation, St. James’s Place Charitable Foundation, The Cruden Foundation and the Edinburgh Airport
Community Fund for their grants to build and kit out the Learning Hub.

We'd also like to thank the teams at the Edinburgh office of RBC Brewin Dolphin, PW & Partners Ltd, Natwest
Property Services Team and Form Design Consultants for their support throughout the year as their nominated
charity. Also Westerwood Properties, Mackays and Wine Importers for their sponsorship of our 2023 Harmeny
Wine Challenge and all those who attended and helped raise over £50,000 for the appeal.

We could not raise such funds without the on-going commitment of our volunteer Fundraising Development
Group, ambassadors and supporters. The appeal was supported by a small Fundraising Team, along with the
Fundraising Development Group, chaired by Allan Cook CBE, and with members including individuals from the
business community, John Halliday and Anna Vaughan, Trustees, and the Chief Executive. The Chief Executive
provides regular reports for the Trustees, who retain overall responsibility for monitoring and reviewing
fundraising activities.

Over and above the funds raised for our capital appeal we also received donations totalling £76,088 (including
Gift Aid) to our Holidays and Activities fund and our support for former pupils. This includes Harmeny Here4U
(our transitions and keeping in touch project for young people up to age 26, kindly funded by The Ryvoan Trust)
and funding from Save the Children, who ran Harmeny until 1995, as part of the Scottish Redress Scheme to
provide former pupils with opportunities to visit and engage with Harmeny.

We were very grateful to receive a grant from The Scottish Government Pupil Equity Fund, targeted towards
improving children's attainment and achievement in literacy, numeracy, health and wellbeing.

Grants and donations are included as restricted donations and legacies as disclosed in the Statement of
Financial Activities.

Public Benefit

Harmeny is one of seven national grant aided schools and provides education and care to children who have
complex additional support needs that cannot be met in local authority provision.

The school is open to children from the whole of Scotland. Fees are paid by referring local authorities and are
subsidised by the Scottish Government in the form of an annual grant to Harmeny. The school has no private

pupils.

The Trustees consider that Harmeny provides significant public benefit in addition to the contribution it gives
through the school's principal objectives and activities as described above. As well as the work we do with
children attending the school, the facilities at Harmeny are also made available to children from other schools
and to adults and children from the local community and beyond for training purposes, leisure and volunteering.
The children placed at Harmeny are encouraged to take up opportunities to participate in the wider community
depending on the mutual benefit of such an undertaking. This has included participating in the local Gala Week
and participating in the Charity Float Procession.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Achievements and performance (continued)

Harmeny also provides training for Social Work, Teaching and Outdoor Education students, enabling practical
placements within our care and education settings for students from the UK and abroad.

As a leader in the field of care and education for children with complex additional support needs, Harmeny
actively contributes to improving the care and education of children in this sector by sharing experience and
expertise within national working groups and through delivering presentations and workshops at national and
international conferences.

In seeking to inform and influence the national debate and frameworks with regards to care and education the
current Chief Executive sits on the managing board of Education through Care Scotland (EtCS), is a board
member of the Scottish Council for Independent Schools (SCIS) and chairs the board of Scottish Outdoor
Education Centres.

Volunteers

2023 was a very busy year for corporate volunteering with 32 teams helping out between April and December, a
77% increase in volunteering sessions compared to 2022. In total 240 volunteers gave 1,200 hours across the
corporate volunteering programme.

The volunteers were involved in a variety of projects to support the maintenance of our estate including helping
out in our community and cottage gardens, decorating the living spaces in our cottages, replacing fencing, and
preparing the Learning Hub ready for opening.

In addition, 20 volunteers regularly support the work of the school throughout the year, via education support,
photography, gardening, delivery of fun STEM activities and fundraising.

Financial review

Going Concern

The results for the year and the Trust's financial position at the end of the year are shown in the attached
financial statements. The directors are confident that the charity has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future and for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the
accounts. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

During the year, the Trust reported an operational surplus of £1,223,274 (2023 - surplus of £2,288,139). Of this,
£419,199 was donations received for our Learning for Life Appeal (LFLA) with monies received going to the
construction of a new Learning Hub which commenced in late 2022 and was completed in October 2023.

Harmeny made an overall net surplus for the year of £1,223,484 (2023 - net surplus of £2,166,927). Gain on
investments in the year were £214 (2023 - loss of £63,199). The movement in the pension fund in the year was a
decrease of £4 (2023 - increase of £1,987). At the year end the net funds of Harmeny were £12,299,247 (2023 -
£11,075,763).

Harmeny continues to work and liaise closely with local authorities across Scotland to ensure that the pupil
numbers remain at capacity. Maximising income, generating additional funding and strict cost control remain a
priority. Further details are provided in note 2.2.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Financial review (continued)

Reserves policy

The Directors have reviewed the reserves of the Trust in the knowledge that the Scottish Government revenue
maintenance grant, while continuing to be paid at a similar level as in the previous year, will be withdrawn over a
number of years.

The Directors are aware that the level of financial risk the Trust is exposed to is significant due to the decrease
and loss of this Grant over the coming years, along with ongoing financial pressures facing local authorities who
are responsible for paying the fees for children placed at Harmeny.

The Trust is also exposed to pension risk via the closed SVSPS (non-teaching staff) pension fund. Details of the
scheme deficit and the annual contributions can be found in note 14.

Given these external long-term risks, the Trustees consider it both prudent and essential to have between three
to six months' unrestricted general reserves. This level of reserves would allow the Trust to take appropriate
steps to reorganise Harmeny’s activities to meet any major change in circumstances that it may face. These

include:

. Providing a level of working capital that protects the continuity of school operations
. Providing cover for risks such as loss of income or unforeseen expenditure

. Providing a level of funding for opportunities or developments

. Providing a level of funding to underpin longer term commitments

Having reviewed the above criteria, alongside the external risks, the current strategy and business plan, the
Trustees believe that in 2023-24 the current level of unrestricted general reserves, equating to approximately 6
months of current operational running costs, are sufficient to cover any such eventualities.

The total reserves at 31 March 2024 are £12,299,247 (2023 - £11,075,763).

Total reserves less restricted reserves of £238,793 (2023 - £949,239), less endowment fund of £38,401 (2023 -
£38,401), less designated LFLA fund of £175,583 (2023 - £943,012), less designated Margery Browning legacy
£38,524 (2023 - £38,524) less net book value of fixed assets of £7,979,554 (2023 - £6,082,651) results in free
reserves (including the pension reserve) of £3,828,392 (2023 - £3,023,936).

Investments

Harmeny has an investment portfolio which is managed by Rathbones Investment Management.

The portfolio is managed at a medium risk level. In practice this means that there is a spread of equity and
pooled funds covering various markets, sectors and asset classes subject to certain restrictions that the Board
have placed on the investment managers.

During the year, the value of investments has increased from £798,236 to £814,340 at 31 March 2024.

The movement in the year represents net additions to the portfolio in the year totaling £25,355 (2023 - net
additions of £2,000) and an unrealised loss of £307 (2023 - loss of £67,098).

All investment income is re-invested in the portfolio to maximise future growth.

The Board receives regular reports from the investment managers and are satisfied with the performance of the
portfolio during 2023-24 taking into account the general performance of the market.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Financial review (continued)

The value of the investment portfolio has decreased since the end of the financial year, and at 30 June 2024 was
valued at £812,685.

Structure, governance and management
Constitution

Harmeny Education Trust Limited is registered as a charitable company limited by guarantee and governed by a
Memorandum and Articles of Association.

Setting pay and remuneration

The remuneration of key management personnel is reviewed on an annual basis and is benchmarked against
the pay scales and increases set by the Scottish Joint Council for Local Government Employees and the Scottish
Negotiating Committee for Teachers.

Methods of appointment or election of Trustees

The management of the Trust is the responsibility of the Trustees who are elected and co-opted under the terms
of the Memorandum of Association.

Harmeny Education Trust Limited is a company limited by guarantee and does not have a share capital. The
governing documents are the Trust's Memorandum and Articles of Association, and in November 2022, a
detailed review of the Articles was concluded. As a result, a new set of Articles was approved by the Trustees in
March, submitted to OSCR and approved by them in June 2023.

The Trustees are chosen for appointment following a robust recruitment process with reference to their
experience and ability to contribute to the work of the charity. The Board meets regularly and has appointed the
following sub committees covering the principal aspects of the Trust's operation:

. Business Group, chaired by Gareth Gettinby, Trustee
. Policy and Practice Group, chaired by Mike Bell, Trustee

The day to day running of the charity is managed by the Chief Executive and the senior leadership team (as
detailed on page 1).

Succession planning and the recruitment process of Trustees are very thorough and focus on required skill sets.
An induction pack is provided for new Trustees and an induction programme is provided, which includes an
overview of the operational and strategic elements of the organisation as well as meetings with key staff. The
induction programme may include additional elements which are tailored to the needs of the new Board member.

The Board continuously reviews the blend of skills and experience of Trustees relevant to the charity’s core
services. A matrix of skills is therefore regularly reviewed to ensure Trustees hold operational and strategic
knowledge, skills and experience at a senior level across the following areas: education, care, governance,
finance, fundraising, legal, buildings and estates, health and safety, HR and learning and development.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Structure, governance and management (continued)
The Trustees, none of whom has a beneficial interest in Harmeny, who served during the year are:

Jennifer Scott, Chair

Michael Bell

Rachel Caughey

Taliah Drayak (resigned 27 March 2024)

lan Forbes (resigned 30 November 2023)
Gareth Gettinby

John Halliday

Ann Jacob-Chandler (resigned 21 May 2024)
Scott O’Hagan (appointed 31 January 2024)
Sarah Summers

Anna Vaughan

Walter Wood (appointed 31 January 2024)
Judith Pollock (appointed 07 September 2023)

Risk assessment and management

The Trustees give high priority to evaluating the risks to which the charity is exposed and ensuring that there are
effective systems in place to mitigate those risks. The charity’s risk register is reviewed by the Board annually or
as high priority risks emerge.

The Board has conducted its annual review of the major risks to which the charity is exposed along with the
associated actions, procedures and contingency plans put in place to mitigate those risks and is satisfied with
the management of those risks.

Some of Harmeny’s key risks are set out below:

Recruitment and retention of staff

Over the last few years, the care sector as a whole has faced a staffing crisis. Harmeny has felt this acutely over
the last year, with a high level of turnover in our care team. Reasons for moving on include the impact of Covid
on their physical and mental wellbeing, high turnover of staff, and the nature of shift work. Other reasons include
career progression to promoted roles with higher pay and personal reasons.

These factors impact our ability to deliver children’s care and education in a safe and effective way, putting
pressure on the remaining teams to maintain the support our children and young people need. In turn this has
an impact on staff morale.

In 2023 we closed for new referrals while we worked hard to recruit for vacant care positions. Being unable to
accept new referrals has had an impact on our income. Since the beginning of 2024 we have been open for new
referrals, but recruitment and retention continue to require close monitoring and robust planning.

Funding
As a Grant Aided Special School, we receive funding from the Scottish Government (SG), however that funding

will be withdrawn on a phased basis by March 2029. As the grant withdraws, we will need to meet the costs
through Local Authority funding for each placement or reduce our costs which risks impacting the quality of care
and education provided by Harmeny. The fee income for pupils placed at Harmeny is paid by Local Authorities,
and fee rates are negotiated annually as part of a framework agreement.

There is a risk that we cannot negotiate sufficient increase in fees to meet our rising costs and the reduction in
funding from SG. This in turn could impact on our reserves and cashflow.
We have a robust budget and planning process in place to support requests for fee uplifts, and maintain a high
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Structure, governance and management (continued)
level of reserves to support any short-term shortfall in funding.

Scottish Child Abuse Inquiry

In September 2018, Harmeny was named, alongside many other organisations, by the Scottish Child Abuse
Inquiry, which relates to young people who were in residential care up to December 2014. Harmeny is highly
supportive of the Inquiry, and has fully cooperated through the thorough preparation of a formal response, which
was submitted in September 2019.

Should any allegations be made there is a risk of reputational and/or financial damage.

In October 2022 the Trustees agreed that Harmeny should become a participant of the Redress scheme as a
part of the Redress for Survivors (Historical Child Abuse in Care) (Scotland) Act. Participation is on a defined
(capped overall payment) basis, with the organisation joining the scheme on 8 February 2023. The Scottish
Government (SG) advised that the cost of participating in the scheme on a defined basis for Harmeny would be
£70k in total, with seven annual payments of £10,000 from 2023 to 2029.

The risks associated with joining the scheme include: financial, in respect of the funds being required over a
seven-year period; and reputational, through potential adverse publicity.

For managing reputational risk, we engage a communications consultant to ensure swift and appropriate
messaging around any claims that are made public.

Harmeny is also considering the installation of a sculpture to acknowledge former pupils and their experiences
whilst in our care.

Safeguarding/child protection

Given the complex needs and the life histories of the young people at Harmeny, child protection and
safeguarding are given a very high profile in the organisation. The recruitment of the Harmeny Social Worker has
allowed for a consistency in our handling of this and they work closely with the Lead Child Protection Officers in
ensuring that systems are robust in handling disclosures of previous abuse and also any current allegations.
Statistical analysis is provided for every meeting of the Board of Trustees. All staff are trained at or above the
level that would normally be considered appropriate depending on their roles.

Information security and cyber crime

As with any organisation we are vulnerable to data breaches which have the potential to cause financial loss,
harm the delivery of our work, the children and young people in our care and our staff. A data breach could also
result in a loss of confidence from our funders and regulators and result in reputational damage. There is also
the risk of fines or penalties from the ICO as well as claims from employees or former pupils over loss of data.
We have a robust set of technical controls to meet the evolving threat from cybercriminals and are working
towards a Cyber Essentials accreditation to ensure our policy and practice meets the best possible standard.

Financial controls

Financial crime (either perpetrated by a third party or Harmeny staff member) could result in a loss of funds,
inflated costs or loss of assets. There is also a risk that such crime or fraud could result in harm to our staff,
children and our reputation. We have policies and procedures in place to address this risk and are working to
improve our systems, processes and capabilities in this area.
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Structure, governance and management (continued)

Pensions

Until it closed in 2010, Harmeny was a part of the Scottish Voluntary Sector Pension Scheme (SVSPS) for non-
teaching staff. The scheme closed with a considerable deficit which has been paid off in instalments up until
May 2024.

Whilst the deficit has now been cleared there is a risk that future valuations of the scheme result in further
liabilities. In addition, the scheme operated on a ‘last man standing’ basis which means that the share of any
deficit that cannot be met by defaulting employers will be passed on to those employers remaining in the
scheme.

Harmeny will continue to accrue for a potential liability to ensure we are able to manage any deficits that may
arise as a result of future valuations.

Harmeny also contributes to the Scottish Teachers’ Pension Scheme (STPS). This scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit meaning that contributions being paid into the scheme now are used to fund current retirees. In
the year commencing 1 April 2024, the employer contributions have increased from 23% to 26%.

There is a risk that the costs of the pension scheme could increase as a result of increased life expectancy,
inflation causing final salaries to increase, fewer members contributing to the scheme as a result of teachers
leaving the profession and the withdrawal of Independent Schools from the scheme.

The Trustees completed a review into our participation in the scheme during the year and it was agreed to
continue. This will be kept under review.

Regulatory risk
Harmeny works in a heavily regulated sector, reporting to the Care Inspectorate, Education Scotland, Office for

Scottish Charity Regulator as well as those Local Authorities who place pupils with us and other funders,
including the Scottish Government.

There is a risk of non-compliance with the requirements of any of these stakeholders which could result in
financial sanctions, reputational damage and potentially damage our ability to continue delivering our services.

Harmeny has several working groups to monitor service delivery and address outcomes of inspection reports, as
well as robust quality assurance systems in place. The Trustees maintain oversight of key areas through a
Policy and Practice Group for operational matters and Business Group for financial and personnel matters.
There is a range of skills among the Trustees to provide appropriate support across all regulated areas.

Other Risks
Other risks, as assessed by the Trustees, relate to health and safety, managing organisational change and
investment performance.
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Statement of Trustees' responsibilities

The Trustees (who are also the directors of the Trust for the purposes of company law) are responsible for
preparing the Trustees' report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law,
the Trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its
income and expenditure, for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

o observe the methods and principles of the Charities SORP (FRS 102);

. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards (FRS 102) have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the

Trust will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Trust's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Trust and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Disclosure of information to auditor

Each of the persons who are Trustees at the time when this Trustees' report is approved has confirmed that:

. so far as that Trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the charity's auditor is
unaware, and
. that Trustee has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a Trustee in order to be aware of

any relevant audit information and to establish that the charity's auditor is aware of that information.
Auditor

The Trustees are proposing a re-tender of its external audit services, and once this process is complete the
auditor appointment will be confirmed by the Trustees.

Approved by order of the members of the board of Trustees and signed on their behalf by:

Signed by:

@nnl@k _g caVV'

Jennifer Scott

Trustee
Date: 24 September 2024
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Harmeny Education Trust Limited (the "Trust') for the year ended 31
March 2024 which comprise the Statement of financial activities, the Balance sheet, the Statement of cash flows
and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

. give a true and fair view of the state of the Trust's affairs as at 31 March 2024 and of its incoming
resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure for the year then ended;

. have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations
2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Trust in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, including the
Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Trust's ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Trustees with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(CONTINUED)

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual report other than the financial statements
and our Auditor's Report thereon. The Trustees are responsible for the other information contained within the
Annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

. the information given in the Trustees' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
. the Trustees' Report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the Trust and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees' Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which Companies Act 2006 and the
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) require us to report to you if, in our opinion:

. adequate and proper accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

. the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

. certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the Trustees' responsibilities statement, the Trustees (who are also the directors of the
Trust for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Trustees determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Trust's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(CONTINUED)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland)
Act 2005 and under the Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance with the Act and relevant regulations
made or having effect thereunder.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor's Report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is
detailed below:

The extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities including fraud

Our approach to identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including
fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations, was as follows:

o the engagement partner ensured that the engagement team collectively had the appropriate competence,
capabilities and skills to identify or recognise non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

e we identified the laws and regulations applicable to the Trust through discussions with trustees and other
management, and from our charity sector knowledge;

o we focused on specific laws and regulations which we considered may have a direct material effect on the
financial statements or the operations of the Trust, including the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, data protection, anti-bribery, employment, and health and safety
legislation;

e we assessed the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations identified above through making
enquiries of management; and

o identified laws and regulations were communicated within the audit team regularly and the team remained
alert to instances of non-compliance throughout the audit.

We assessed the susceptibility of the Trust’s financial statements to material misstatement, including obtaining
an understanding of how fraud might occur, by:

e making enquiries of management as to where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud, their
knowledge of actual, suspected and alleged fraud; and

e considering the internal controls in place to mitigate risks of fraud and non-compliance with laws and
regulations.

To address the risk of fraud through management bias and override of controls, we:

o performed high level analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships;

o tested journal entries to identify unusual transactions;

o assessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the accounting estimates were
indicative of potential bias; and
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(CONTINUED)

The extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities including fraud
(continued)

e investigated the rationale behind significant or unusual transactions.

In response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures
which included, but were not limited to:

e agreeing financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation;
e reading the minutes of meetings of those charged with governance; and
e enquiring of management as to actual and potential litigation and claims.

There are inherent limitations in our audit procedures described above. The more removed that laws and
regulations are from financial transactions, the less likely it is that we would become aware of non-compliance.

Auditing standards also limit the audit procedures required to identify non-compliance with laws and regulations
to enquiry of the directors and other management and the inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if
any.

Material misstatements that arise due to fraud can be harder to detect than those that arise from error as they
may involve deliberate concealment or collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
Auditor's Report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Trust's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006, and to the Trust's trustees, as a body, in accordance with regulation 10 of the Charities
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Trust's
members and Trustees those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditor's Report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Trust, its members, as a body, and its trustees, as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

A2B6AD7690BC4F5...
Antony J Sinclair (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of
French Duncan LLP
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditor
133 Finnieston Street
Glasgow
G3 8HB

Date: 24 September 2024

French Duncan LLP trading as AAB is eligible to act as auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act
2006.
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES (INCORPORATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Income and
endowments from:

Donations and legacies
Charitable activities
Investments

Total income and
endowments
Expenditure on:
Raising funds
Charitable activities

Total expenditure

Net income before
net gains/(losses) on
investments

Net gains/(losses) on
investments

Net income

Transfers between
funds

Net movement in
funds before other
recognised
gains/(losses)

Other recognised
gains/(losses):

Other (losses)/gains

Net movement in
funds

Reconciliation of
funds:

Total funds brought
forward

Net movement in funds

Total funds carried
forward

Note

o

21

21

21

21

Unrestricted Restricted Endowment Total Total
funds funds funds funds funds
2024 2024 2024 2024 2023
£ £ £ £ £
1,086,194 558,087 - 1,644,281 2,551,499
7,242,628 - - 7,242,628 6,188,140
88,082 952 - 89,034 38,544
8,416,904 559,039 - 8,975,943 8,778,183
100,647 74,829 - 175,476 156,840
7,492,025 85,168 - 7,577,193 6,393,204
7,592,672 159,997 - 7,752,669 6,550,044
824,232 399,042 - 1,223,274 2,228,139
214 - - 214 (63,199)
824,446 399,042 - 1,223,488 2,164,940
1,109,488 (1,109,488) - - -
1,933,934 (710,446) - 1,223,488 2,164,940
(4) - - (4) 1,987
1,933,930 (710,446) - 1,223,484 2,166,927
10,088,123 949,239 38,401 11,075,763 8,908,836
1,933,930 (710,446) - 1,223,484 2,166,927
12,022,053 238,793 38,401 12,299,247 11,075,763
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES (INCORPORATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT)
(CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

The operating surplus before investment gains and losses was £1,223,274 (2023 - operating surplus
£2,228,139). Of this, £419,199 was donations received for our Learning for Life Appeal (LFLA) with monies
received going to the construction of a new Learning Hub which commenced in late 2022 and was completed in
October 2023.

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.

The notes on pages 22 to 56 form part of these financial statements.
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED

(A company limited by guarantee)
REGISTERED NUMBER: SC162021

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2024

Fixed assets

Tangible assets
Investments

Current assets

Stocks

Debtors

Investments

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one
year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more
than one year

Net assets excluding pension liability

Defined benefit pension scheme liability

Total net assets

Charity funds

Endowment funds
Restricted funds
Unrestricted funds

Total funds

Note

14
15

16
17
18
25

19

20

13

21
21
21

2024

7,979,554
814,340

8,793,894

2,518
526,824
500,000

3,078,702

4,108,044

(544,281)
3,563,763

12,357,657

(40,000)

12,317,657
(18,410)

12,299,247

38,401
238,793
12,022,053

12,299,247

2023

6,082,651
798,236

6,880,887

2,738
451,575

4,346,096

4,800,409

(433,163)
4,367,246

11,248,133

(50,000)

11,198,133
(122,370)

11,075,763

38,401
949,239
10,088,123

11,075,763
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 MARCH 2024

The Trustees acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
with respect to accounting records and preparation of financial statements.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by:

Signed by:

@nnl@k _g caVV'

21E520F6A845477 ...

Jennifer Scott

Trustee
Date: 24 September 2024

The notes on pages 22 to 56 form part of these financial statements.
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash used generated from operating activities 24
Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends, interests and rents from investments
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 14
Proceeds from sale of investments 15
Purchase of investments 15
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 25

The notes on pages 22 to 56 form part of these financial statements

2024 2023
£ £
1,281,101 2,421,536
89,034 38,544
(2,121,118)  (1,291,494)
413,332 260,787
(429,743) (277,480
(2,048,495)  (1,269,643)
(767,394) 1,151,893
4,346,096 3,194,203
3,578,702 4,346,096
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

1. General information

The Trust is a charitable company limited by guarantee, incorporated in the UK and registered in Scotland
(Company No. SC162021) and is a registered Scottish Charity (Charity No. SC024256). The registered
office is Harmeny School, Mansfield Road, Balerno, Midlothian, EH14 7JY.

The members of the Trust are the Trustees named on page 1. In the event of the charity being wound up,
the liability in respect of the guarantee is limited to £1 per member of the Trust.

2. Accounting policies

21

2.2

23

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS 102) -
Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2019), the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Charities Accounts Scotland Regulations
2006 (as amended) and the Companies Act 2006.

Harmeny Education Trust Limited meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.
Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise
stated in the relevant accounting policy.

Going concern

The charity’s activities and principal risks are described in the Trustees report. The Trustees have
considered forecast results for the school taking into account the current economic uncertainties. The
school continued to operate effectively throughout the year and continued to receive the support of
Government funding. The pupil numbers have been and are expected to remain stable. The school
has maintained its free reserves in line with its reserves policy backed by liquid assets of cash and an
investment portfolio which can be used to support the schools activities if required. The school has
reviewed its cost base to ensure it continues to operate efficiently and will continue to do so. Taking
the above factors into account, the trustees have a reasonable expectation that the charity has
adequate resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due and to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future and for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial
statements. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

Consolidation
The Trust is the parent undertaking of a group which only includes one dormant subsidiary and has

therefore taken an exemption from preparing consolidated accounts. These financial statements
therefore present information about the Trust as an individual undertaking and not about its group.
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.4 Income

All income is recognised once the Trust has entitlement to the income, it is probable that the income
will be received and the amount of income receivable can be measured reliably.

Grants receivable are recognised as incoming resources when the conditions for their receipt have
been satisfied. Grants received for specific purposes are accounted for as restricted funds. Any
grants restricted to future accounting periods are deferred and recognised in the period to which they
relate. Grants for capital projects are credited to a separate restricted fund.

Local Authority fees represent the amounts receivable against the school's net costs for the period
and relative to the school's academic year.

Investment income is recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year it is receivable.

Interest receivable relates to interest on funds held on deposit and is included when receivable and
the amount can be measured reliably by the charity; this is normally upon notification of the interest
paid or payable by the bank.

Donated services or facilities are recognised when the Trust has control over the item, any conditions
associated with the donated item have been met, the receipt of economic benefit from the use of the
Trust of the item is probable and that economic benefit can be measured reliably. In accordance with
the Charities SORP (FRS 102), the general volunteer time is not recognised and reference can be
made to the Trustees' Report for more information about their contribution.

On receipt, donated professional services and donated facilities are recognised on the basis of the
value of the gift to the Trust which is the amount the Trust would have been willing to pay to obtain
services or facilities of equivalent economic benefit on the open market; a corresponding amount is
then recognised in expenditure in the period of receipt.

2.5 Expenditure

Expenditure is included on an accruals basis and is recognised when there is a legal or constructive
obligation to pay for the expenditure. The charity is not registered for VAT and accordingly
expenditure is shown including irrecoverable VAT.

Support costs are those costs that, whilst necessary to deliver an activity, do not themselves produce
or constitute the output of the charitable activity. Support costs include the central office functions
such as general management, payroll administration, budgeting and accounting, information
technology, human resources, learning and development and fundraising. Fundraising expenditure
has been included within the Learning for Life appeal costs and will equate to approximately 15% of
the overall appeal budget. The development and investment in the fundraising infrastructure will
stand us in good stead beyond the lifetime of the appeal and are considered essential for future
fundraising efforts. Support costs are those costs incurred directly in support of expenditure on the
objects of the Trust and include project management work carried out at Headquarters.

Governance costs are the costs associated with the governance arrangements of the charity and are
related to the general running of the charity as opposed to those costs associated with fundraising or
charitable activity. The costs include external audit, legal advice for trustees and costs associated
with constitutional and statutory requirements. Included within this category are any costs associated
with the strategic as opposed to day-to-day management of the charity's activities.
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Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

2. Accounting policies (continued)

25

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

Expenditure (continued)

Expenditure on charitable activities is incurred on directly undertaking the activities which further the
Trust's objectives, as well as any associated support costs.

Government grants

Grants are accounted under the accruals model as permitted by FRS 102. Grants of a revenue
nature are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities in the same period as the related
expenditure.

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

On incorporation, the charity was gifted the land and existing property at Harmeny School on the
condition that should the asset cease to be used for the purposes of Special Needs Education, the

property would revert to Save the Children.

The original cost of the asset is not available and only costs incurred by the predecessor
organisation, Harmeny School, were capitalised on incorporation.

Since incorporation all additions and improvements to land and buildings have been included at cost.
All assets costing more than £2,500 are capitalised.
Tangible fixed assets are carried at cost or valuation, net of depreciation and any provision for

impairment. Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets, less their
estimated residual value, over their expected useful lives on the following bases:

Heritable property - 2% straight line

Plant and machinery - 25% straight line

Motor vehicles - 25% straight line

Fixtures and fittings - 25% straight line

Computer equipment - 25% straight line

Assets under construction - Not depreciated
Investments

Investments are stated at market value at the balance sheet date. The Statement of Financial
Activities includes net gains and losses on revaluation and disposals throughout the year.

Investments held as fixed assets are shown at cost less provision for impairment.
Stocks

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value after making due allowance for
obsolete and slow-moving stocks.

2.10 Debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount after any trade discount offered.
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Current asset investments

Current asset investments include cash deposits held for investment purposes with a maturity date
more than 3 months after the date of acquisition.

2.12 Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash and short-term highly liquid investments with a short maturity
of three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.

2.13 Creditors and provisions

Creditors and provisions are recognised when the charity has a present obligation resulting from a
past event that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle
the obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are normally
recognised at their settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounts due.

2.14 Financial instruments

The Trust only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial
instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently
measured at their settlement value.

2.15 Pensions

The charity contributes to the Scottish Teachers' Superannuation Scheme at rates set by the Scheme
Actuary and advised to the Board by the Scheme Administrator.

The charity also contributes to a multi-employer scheme for non-teaching staff.

In both of these pension schemes it is not possible for the charity to obtain sufficient information to
enable it to account for the schemes as defined benefit schemes therefore they are treated for
accounting purposes as defined contribution schemes.

Contributions to both schemes are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes.

The deficit on the now closed Scottish Voluntary Sector Pension Scheme (SVSPS) defined benefit
scheme for non-teaching staff is being paid off over a period of years calculated by the Scheme
Actuaries to eradicate the deficit in 2025. Payments towards the deficit are included in the Statement
of Financial Activities.

In accordance with FRS 102, the charity makes provision within the financial statements of the
present value of the deficit reduction contributions payable under this agreement.

The Trust operates a defined contribution pension scheme and the pension charge represents the
amounts payable by the Trust to the fund in respect of the year.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.16 Fund accounting

General funds are unrestricted funds which are available for use at the discretion of the Trustees in
furtherance of the general objectives of the Trust and which have not been designated for other
purposes.

Designated funds comprise unrestricted funds that have been set aside by the Trustees for particular
purposes. The aim and use of each designated fund is set out in the notes to the financial
statements.

Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions imposed by
donors or which have been raised by the Trust for particular purposes. The costs of raising and
administering such funds are charged against the specific fund. The aim and use of each restricted
fund is set out in the notes to the financial statements.

Endowment funds represent the book value of property and other assets acquired by the charity on
the date of incorporation in December 1995.

Investment income, gains and losses are allocated to the appropriate fund.
2.17 Operating leases: the Trust as a lessee

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a straight
line basis over the period of the lease.

2.18 Employee benefits

The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense unless these
costs are required to be recognised as part of the cost of specific fixed assets.

The cost of unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period when the employee's services are
recovered.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the Trust in demonstrably
committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

3. Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions:

The Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

(i) Useful economic lives of tangible assets

The annual depreciation charge for tangible assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful
economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values are re-
assessed annually. They are amended when necessary to reflect the current estimates, based on
technological advancement, future investments, economic utilisation and the physical conditions of the
assets. See note 15 for carrying amounts of tangible assets.

(ii) Defined benefit pension scheme

The charity operates both a defined benefit pension scheme providing benefits based on the final
pensionable earnings and a defined contribution scheme. The determination of any pension scheme
surplus/deficit is based on assumptions determined with independent actuarial advice. The assumptions
used include discount rate, inflation, pension increases, salary increases, the expected return on scheme
assets and mortality assumptions. Refer to note 14 for details of post retirement benefits.

4. Income from donations and legacies

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total
funds funds funds funds
2024 2024 2024 2023
£ £ £ £
Donations 19,929 506,862 526,791 1,359,983
Government grants 1,066,265 51,225 1,117,490 1,191,516
1,086,194 558,087 1,644,281 2,661,499

Total 2023 1,184,579 1,366,920 2,661,499
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

5. Income from charitable activities

Local authority fees
Other

Total 2023

6. Investment income

Dividends
Bank interest

Total 2023

Unrestricted Total Total
funds funds funds
2024 2024 2023
£ £ £
7,228,554 7,228,554 6,164,682
14,074 14,074 23,458
7,242,628 7,242,628 6,188,140
6,188,140 6,188,140
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total
funds funds funds funds
2024 2024 2024 2023
£ £ £ £
23,079 - 23,079 20,056
65,003 952 65,955 18,488
88,082 952 89,034 38,544
38,544 - 38,544
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

7. Expenditure on raising funds

Costs of raising voluntary income

Fundraisers' costs

Total 2023

Investment management costs

Investment management fees

Total 2023

Total expenditure on raising funds

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total
funds funds funds funds
2024 2024 2024 2023
£ £ £ £
91,704 74,829 166,533 149,578
51,189 98,389 149,578
Unrestricted Total Total
funds funds funds
2024 2024 2023
£ £ £
8,943 8,943 7,262
7,262 7,262
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total
funds funds funds funds
2024 2024 2024 2023
£ £ £ £
100,647 74,829 175,476 156,840
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Summary by fund type

Harmeny School

Harmeny School

Analysis of expenditure on charitable activities

Unrestricted Restricted

Analysis of expenditure on charitable activities by activity

funds funds Total Total

2024 2024 2024 2023

£ £ £ £

7,492,025 85,168 7,577,193 6,393,204
6,275,430 117,774 6,393,204

Activities

undertaken Support Total Total

directly costs funds funds

2024 2024 2024 2023

£ £ £ £

7,137,630 439,563 7,577,193 6,393,204
5,936,130 457,074 6,393,204
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

10.

Analysis of expenditure on charitable activities by activity (continued)

Analysis of direct costs

Staff costs
Depreciation
Consumables
Operating charges

Total 2023

Analysis of support costs

Staff costs
Professional fees
Governance costs

Total 2023

Auditor's remuneration

Fees payable to the Trust's auditor for the audit of the Trust's annual

accounts

Harmeny Total Total
School funds funds
2024 2024 2023
£ £ £
5,797,440 5,797,440 4,900,620
224,214 224,214 178,008
208,707 208,707 176,724
907,269 907,269 680,778
7,137,630 7,137,630 5,936,130
5,936,130 5,936,130
Harmeny Total Total
School funds funds
2024 2024 2023
£ £ £
309,111 309,111 285,497
5,100 5,100 14,290
125,352 125,352 157,287
439,563 439,563 457,074
457,074 457,074
2024 2023
£ £
15,000 12,210
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

1.

Staff costs

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Contribution to defined contribution pension schemes

2024 2023

£ £
5,342,789 4,606,970
517,255 455,406
360,293 272,675
6,220,337 5,335,051

In addition to the above noted pension costs the charity has made pension deficit contributions of
£107,455 (2023 - £104,325) which have been offset against the liability provided within the financial

statements during the year.

The average number of persons employed by the Trust during the year was as follows:

Education staff
Care staff
Domestic staff
Administrative staff
Estate staff

2024 2023
£ £

33 31
104 87
16 14
22 22

5 4
180 158
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

1.

12,

Staff costs (continued)

The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded
£60,000 was:

2024 2023

£ £

In the band £60,001 - £70,000 2 1

In the band £70,001 - £80,000 2 2
In the band £80,001 - £90,000 1 -

In the band £100,001 - £110,000 1 1

6 4

Ordinarily there would be an additional employee, however, the Head of Finance was not in their role for
the full year.

Total pension costs to higher paid employees amounted to £44,407 (2023 - £34,690) in the year.
During the financial year, the total remuneration (inclusive of employers national insurance and pension

contributions) for Key Management Personnel comprising the Chief Executive, Head of Care, Head of
Education, Head of Finance and Head of HR was £468,970 (2023 - £417,206).

Trustees' remuneration and expenses

During the year, no Trustees received any remuneration or other benefits (2023 - £NIL).

Transactions with Trustees

During the year, related party transactions amounted to £6,285 (2023 - £9,184). These included
consultancy services paid to Jennifer Scott and project development services paid to Judi Pollock.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no expenses were reimbursed or paid directly to Trustees (2023 -
£34 to 1 Trustee).

Amounts due to Trustees at 31 March 2024 amounted to £nil (2023 - £nil).
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

13.

Pensions
Teaching Staff - The Scottish Teachers Pension Scheme

Harmeny Education Trust Limited participates in the Scottish Teachers’ Pension Scheme. The scheme is
an unfunded statutory public service pension scheme with benefits underwritten by the UK Government.
The scheme is financed by payments from employers and from those current employees who are
members of the scheme and paying contributions at progressively higher marginal rates based on
pensionable pay, as specified in the regulations. The rate of employer contributions is set with
reference to a funding valuation undertaken by the scheme actuary. The last four-yearly valuation was
undertaken as at 31 March 2016.

Harmeny Education Trust Limited has no liability for other employers’ obligations to the multi-employer
scheme.

As the scheme is unfunded there can be no deficit or surplus to distribute on the wind-up of the scheme
or withdrawal from the scheme.

It is accepted that the scheme can be treated for accounting purposes as a defined contribution scheme in
circumstances where Harmeny Education Trust Limited is unable to identify its share of the underlying
assets and liabilities on the scheme.

The employer contribution rate for the period from 1 April 2021 is 23% of pensionable pay. The employee
rate applied is variable and is anticipated to provide a yield of 9.4% of pensionable pay.

The most recent actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2020 informed an increase in employer contribution
rate to 26% from 01 April 2024. The employee contribution rate is variable and is anticipated to provide a
yield of 9.6% of pensionable pay. This will remain in place until 01 April 2027.

Non-Teaching Staff — Scheme: The Pensions Trust Scottish Voluntary Sector Pension Scheme

The Trust participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to some 82 non-
associated employers. The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for the Trust
to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit scheme.
Therefore it accounts for the scheme as a defined contribution scheme.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force
on 30 December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical
Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined
benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK.

The scheme is classified as a 'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore the Trust is potentially liable for
other participating employers' obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme
deficit following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their
share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2020. This
actuarial valuation was certified on 21 December 2021 and showed assets of £153.3m, liabilities of
£160.0m and a deficit of £6.7m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, the trustees and the participating
employers have agreed that additional contributions will be paid, in combination from all employers, to the
scheme as follows:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

13. Pensions (continued)

Deficit contributions

From 1 April 2022 to 31 May 2024 £1,473,969 per annum
(payable monthly and increasing by 3% each on 1
April)

Some employers have agreed concessions (both past and present) with the Trustee and have
contributions up to 28 February 2034.

Note that the scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2017.
This valuation showed assets of £120.0m, liabilities of £145.9m and a deficit of £25.9m. To eliminate this
funding shortfall, the Trustee asked the participating employers to pay additional contributions to the
scheme as follows:

Deficit contributions

From 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2026 £1,404,638 per annum
(payable monthly and increasing by 3% each on 1
April)

From 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2027 £136,701 per annum
(payable monthly and increasing by 3% each on 1
April)

The recovery plan contributions are allocated to each participating employer in line with their estimated
share of the scheme liabilities.

Where the scheme is in deficit and where the Trust has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement the Trust
recognises a liability for this obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit
reduction contributions payable under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The present value is
calculated using the discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the discount rate is
recognised as a finance cost.

The following schedule details the deficit contributions agreed between the Trust and the scheme at each
year end period:

Deficit Contribution Schedule

Year ending 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

(£s) (£s) (£s)
Year 1 18,446 107,455 104,325
Year 2 18,446 107,455
Year 3 18,446

The Trust must recognise a liability measured as the present value of the contributions payable that arise
from the deficit recovery agreement and the resulting expense in the income and expenditure account i.e.
the unwinding of the discount rate as a finance cost in the period in which it arises.

It is these contributions that have been used to derive the Trust's balance sheet liability.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Pensions (continued)
Present values of provision

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

(£s) (£s) (£s)
Present value of provision
18,410 122,370 224,807
Reconciliation of opening and closing provisions
Year ending Year ending
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(£s) (£'s)
Provision at start of period 122,370 224,807
Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 3,491 3,875
Deficit contribution paid (107,455) (104,325)
Remeasurements - impact of any change in assumptions 4 (1,987)
Remeasurements - amendments to the contribution schedule -
Provision at end of period 18,410 122,370
Income and expenditure impact
Year ending Year ending
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Es) (Es)
Interest expense 3,491 3,875
Remeasurements - impact of any change in assumptions 4 (1,987)

Remeasurements - amendments to the contribution schedule
Contributions paid in respect of future service*
Costs recognised in income and expenditure account

*Includes defined contribution schemes and future service contributions (i.e. excluding any deficit
reduction payments) to defined benefit schemes which are treated as defined contribution schemes.

Assumptions

31 March 2022
% per annum

31 March 2023
% per annum

31 March 2024
% per annum

Rate of discount 4.90 5.40 2.30
The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount

future recovery plan contributions due, would give the same results as using a full AA corporate bond yield
curve to discount the same recovery plan contributions.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

13.

Pensions (continued)

Debt on Withdrawal

Harmeny School’s estimated debt on withdrawal as at 30 September 2023 is £1,326,215.
Defined Contribution Scheme

A new scheme was provided for non-teaching staff with effect from 1 April 2010. The scheme is a defined
contribution scheme, which will accumulate no further risk or liability for Harmeny Education Trust Limited.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

14.

15.

16.

Tangible fixed assets (continued)

Save the Children, who previously ran Harmeny School, had been granted a Standard Security over the
whole of the heritable property transferred to the Trust on 21 December 1995. This Standard Security was
discharged in previous years.

The Trust owns the original main building and lodge house, which are both listed. These properties were
included in the gift of land and buildings by Save The Children when the Trust was incorporated in 1995.
The value of the assets taken over at that date was recorded as £35,734 in the records of the previous
organisation, Harmeny School, and this figure has been included as cost in the balance sheet and the
value has been credited to the Endowment Fund. Heritable Property is insured for £15,258,781 which is
an estimate of replacement cost and which excludes Value Added Tax.

The proceeds from heritable property, if sold, can only be applied to further the objectives of the school.

Otherwise Save the Children may require consideration to be paid in exchange for their consent to the
disposals.

Fixed asset investments

Listed Unlisted Trade

securities securities investments Total
£ £ £ £

Market value
At 1 April 2023 736,176 62,058 2 798,236
Additions 215,282 214,461 - 429,743
Disposals (189,927) (223,405) - (413,332)
Revaluations (307) - - (307)
At 31 March 2024 761,224 53,114 2 814,340

Listed Unlisted

securities securities Total

£ £ £

Historical cost 721,759 53,114 774,873
Stocks

2024 2023

£ £

Kitchen consumables 2,518 2,738
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

17.

18.

19.

20.

Debtors

Due within one year

Trade debtors

Other debtors

Prepayments and accrued income

Current asset investments

Term deposits

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors

Amounts owed to group undertakings
Other taxation and social security
Pension creditor

Other creditors

Accruals and deferred income

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

Other creditors

2024 2023
£ £
435,473 375,688
1,456 2,451
89,895 73,436
526,824 451,575
2024 2023
£ £
500,000 -
2024 2023
£ £
81,925 104,417
2 2
128,802 115,270
34,113 38,754
22,813 21,716
276,626 153,004
544,281 433,163
2024 2023
£ £
40,000 50,000

Page 41



Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

Zt ebed

8Z6‘GLZ‘'9  0lZ - (889‘zo¥‘L)  vo6‘9Ly‘'S  ZOL‘LIZ'S
L1812’ - (s¥e‘og) - - 29L'vvZ’L
(Liv'8L) (¥) GSY°201 (Lev'e) - (L2g221)
9Z9°LL vLe - - - A% )
96¥°200°S - (or1°22) (261'65Y‘L)  ¥06‘9LY‘S 668°LZLY
62G'908°G - 8sv'60L‘L  (¥86°'621) - 120°228'Y
€8G°G/1 - (62¥°292) - - ZL0'sv6
vzs'ss - - - - vzs'ss
81L¥'26S‘S - 116'9.8‘,  (¥86°621) - G8Y'sy8‘s
3 3 3 3 3 3

ZA114 (sassoT) }nojul ainjpuadx3 awoou| €202 |Hdy
youel L /suies) sl9jsued] | Je aosuejeg
je aosuejeqg

Auedold - aAlesay uonenjeasy
aAI8saY UoIsuad

JUBWISOAU| - BAISSOY UoENneAsy
spunj ||e - spun4 |elausn)

spuny |eJauan

pun4 |eaddy a7 40} Buiules]
pun4 Aoeba Buiumolig Alebiepy
pun4 |eydeD

spuny pajeubisag

spunj pajoLisalun

Jeak Jualing - spuny Jo Juswale}s

spuny Jo jJuawajels

e

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

¢t ebed

60.'GZ - (6€5°'¥S) (L2€°8) 61988 -
yov's9l - (9g0°z21) - - 005°282
ove - - (9€6°2) - 9LlL'c

- - (009°02) - 00902 -

- - (ere‘zLe) (528'99) 66L'61¥ 6£6°'65S
058l - - (1r8'92) G29°0¢ 98.'vl
7188 - - (2z0°29) - L¥8'08

- - - (68¢) - 68¢

- - - (809°2) - 809°C
Lov'se - - - - Lov'se
€50'2202L 01T 88v'60LL  (219'266°L) v06'9L¥'8  €Z1'880°01
3 3 3 3 3 3
ZA114 (sassoT) }nojul ainjpuadx3 awoou| €202 |Hdy
youel L /suies) sl9jsued] | Je aosuejeg
je aosuejeqg

sbumi4 g saunxi4 - 147
uoneuoq snowAuouy

pun4 Buiag|dM 8 61 PIN0D OS

juelio _mH_QmO - JUBSWUIBA0YL) YSIjj00S
pun4 jeaddy a7 40} Buiules]

pund Aynb3 jidnd

pun4 j09[oid NYIHIH

el podiy ybinquipg

Juelc) uoljisuel] - JUsWuIsA09D) Ysi}joos

Spunj pajoLlsay

sSpun4 JuUswWMOpUT jusuewlad

spuny Juswmopusg

spunj pajoLisalun [ejoL

(ponunuo9) 1eak jJuaiind - spuny Jo Jusawalels

(ponuuod) spuny jo Jusawalels

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

v ebed

lvz'662CL 01T - (699°262°L)  €¥6°GL6‘8  £91°GL0°LL
£6.'8€2 - (ssv‘60L‘L) (266°6S1L) 6£0°65S 6£2'6V6

3 3 3 3 3 3

ZA114 (sassoT) }nojul ainjpuadx3 awoou| €202 |Hdy
youel L /suies) sl9jsued] | Je aosuejeg
je aosuejeqg

spuny jo |ejol

(ponunuo9) 1eak jJuaiind - spuny Jo Jusawalels

(ponuuod) spuny jo Jusawalels

e

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

Gt ebed

20L°492'¢  (212°19) (000°00%) (£eG'6£2°9)  €92°LLY. ¥8G°06S Y
291 brZ’L - (sreog) - - 20St/2°L
(L28221) /86°L GZEYOL (z89°¢) - (Loo‘Gz2)
Ziv'/L (661°€9) (esrce) - - Y0901
668°L2Lt - (L¥G8tt) (L68°GeZ9)  €92°LLY. ¥€0'G6E‘C
120°228'Y - 9v9'662°L  (8¥E'v6) - £22°429°¢
ZL0°ct6 - 000°00% (€29%) - G89°/¥S
AR - - - - AR
G8Y 'S8 - 9+9°668 (62968) - rLGGE0E
F F F F F F

€202 (sesso7) inoyu aimipusdx3  awoou| 220z [udy |
yosepy Le /suregy SETNI=]] Je aoueeg
Je aoueleg

Auedold - aAlesay uonenjeasy
aAI8saY UoIsuad

SJUBLW]SOAU| - BAISSSY UoljeNn|eAsy
spunj ||e - spun4 |elausn)

spuny |eJauan

|jeaddy 817 40} Buiuies]

pun4 Aoeba Buiumolig Alebiepy
pun4 |eydeD

spuny pajeubisag

spunj pajoLisalun

Jeak Joud - spuny jo Juswidlels

(ponuuod) spuny jo Jusawalels

e

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

9t ebed

- - (009°02) - 009°02 -
6£6 655 - (9+0'6.8) (68¢86) GrE'€S6 62085
98/t - - (r16°62) G29°0¢ G001
L¥8°08 - - (659°L€) 00005 00529
68¢ - - (ezv) - 218
809°C - - (zvz'zz) 0582 -
F F F F F F
€202 (sesso7) inoyu aimipusdx3  awoou| 220z [udy |
yolep L /suregy SETNI=]] Je eoueleg
Je eoueleg
LOY Q€ - - - - LOY Q€
£€21'880°0L (212°1L9) 9+9°668 (L88ccc’9)  €9Z°Liv'. L0€CLL°8
F F F F F F
€202 (sesso7) inoyu aimipusdx3  awoou| 220z [udy |
yolep L /suregy SETNI=]] Je eoueleg
Je soueleg

uels) jeyden - JUBWUIBAOL) YSI00S
pun4 |eaddy a7 40} Buiules]

pund Aynb3 jidnd

pund j08foid NFIHIH

Juels poduty ybinquip3

JUBlIS) UOIHSUBL] - JUBWUIBAOL) YSI)J00S

spunj pa)oLIsay

pun4 JUsWMOPUT JUsuUBWISd

spuny Juswmopusg

spunj pajoLisalun [ejoL

(ponunuos) seak soud - spuny jo Juswajels

(ponunuod) spuny jo Juswidle}s ‘Lz

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

Lt ebed

€9/°GL0°bL  (242°1L9) - (t¥0°06G°9)  €81°8//°8  9£8°806°8
6£2°6t6 - (9+9'668) (€91942) 026°99€°L 821°869

- - - (669°22) - 66922
005°282 - - (0629) 005°282 0629
9/L°¢ - - (LeL's) - L0€°LL
F F F F F F
€202 (sesso7) inoyu aimipusdx3  awoou| 220z [udy |
yolep L /suregy SETNI=]] Je eoueleg
Je soueleg

spunj jo [ejo|

pun4 asiwold
uoneuoq snowAuouy
pund Buieq|ie M\ 8 61 PIA0D DS

(ponunuos) seak soud - spuny jo Juswajels

(ponuuod) spuny jo Jusawalels

e

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

gt ebed

vZ'662'CL 012 - (699'26.°2)  £v6'G16'S €92G/0°L1L
£6.'8€2 - (ssv‘60L‘L) (266°6S1) 6£0°65S 6£2°'6v6
Lov‘sE - - - - Lov‘sE
825'612°9 (1] 4 - (889°29v‘2)  ¥06'9LY'‘S z01°192's
625'908°G - 8sv‘'60L‘L  (¥86°'621) - 120°228'Y

3 3 3 3 3 3

ZA114 (sassoT) }nojul ainjpuadx3 awoou| €202 |Hdy
youel L /suies) sl9jsued] | Je aosuejeg
je aosuejeqg

spuny pajollsay
spunj JuswMmopug

spunj |eJauan)
spuny pajeubisag

Jeak Juaung - spuny jo Aiewwng

spuny jo Ailewwng

K44

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

61 obed

€9/°GL0°bL  (242°1L9) - (+¥0°06G°9)  €81°8//°8  9£8°806°8
6£2°6t6 - (9+9'668) (€91942) 026°99€°L 821°869
L0t 8E - - - - L0t '8E
20L°492'c  (212°19) (000‘00%) (ceG'6€2'9)  €92°LIY. ¥8G°0SG ‘v
120°228°Y - 9¥9'662°L  (8YE'6) - £22°429°¢
F F F F F F

€202 (sesso7) inoyu aimipusdx3  awoou| 220z [udy |
yolep L /suregy SETNI=]] Je eoueleg
Je soueleg

spuny pajollsay
spunj JuswMmopug

spunj |eJauan)
spuny pajeubisag

Jeak soud - spuny jo Auiewwing

(penunuos) spuny jo Arewwing

K44

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

0G 8bed

"G66 1 Joqwiada( ul uonelodiooul JO ajep ay} uo pasinboe sjasse Jayjo pue Auadoud ay) 0} sajejal puny Siy |

pung JUSLUMOPUS JUSUBWISg
spun4 juawmopug

asodind Jayjoue 1o} pasn aq 0} ||is $2G‘gE3 Bululewsal
ayl yum ‘sieak Jailies ul jeaddy sy Joy Buluiea ay) 0) pajeoojle usaq sey Ydiym Jo 000003 ‘Buiumoug Aisbiey Agq puiyaq us| Aoebs| e syjussaisdal puny siyl

punj AoebGa| bulumolg Alebiepy

‘pud Jeak ay} 1e pun4 [eude)
By} O} pallajsuel) S}J9SSE 9SaY) JO anjeA Y00(q }au ay) yym ainjipuadxa [eyded uo papuadxs aijam spuny asay) jo uoiiodoud e pue asodind siy} 1o} spuny [esausb
10 000‘0GG3F paleubisep saa)sni| ay) ‘sieah Jaides u| ‘jeadde Buisielpuny sAueyo ayy jo 10adsal ul sealsni| ay) Ag apise 1os saluow syuasaidal puny siy|

punj [eaddy o} o} buiuieaT

‘'spuny pajolysal juelb jeuden JuswuIsA0L) Ysijjoos pue sbumy g sainixiy gny Buiuiesa

‘leaddy 8)17 4o} Buluiea ayy 0} Bunejas pasnoul (uoneldaldap Jeah Jusalind ay) Jo jau) ainjipuadxa |eyded Jo j1oadsal ul puny SIy) Ojul SpeW Udaq SABY SIdjsuel)
‘1eah ayy Buung -J1eak ay) Buunp punj siy} 0) pajedo|e sI s}asse paxiy 9|qibue) asay) Jo 10adsal ul pasnoul uonealdaq “pabieyosip Ajiny usaq pey uonoLsal
8y} Usym punj SIy} OjUl paliajsuel} pue paAledal awooul pajolsal ybnoayy papuny ajam yolym sjasse paxly a|gibue) Jo anjeA o0oq jau 8y} sjuasaldal puny siy |
pund reyded

spuny pajeubisag

(penunuos) spuny jo Arewwing

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

LG ebed

"91e1se 9y} ssouoe AYjIgissasoe anosdwi pue yjlempleoq ay} aoejdal 0} sjeusiew Jo aseyaind sy} Joy Buipuny 0} sajejal juelb ay |

pung Alunuiwo) podily ybinquipg

's901AI8s Buluies| pue a1ed Buinuiuod Jno o Juawdojaap ay) Moddns 0} Jaoio Juswabeuew j08foid awiy ped e Joj JUBWUIBAOS) YsiooS woly Buipuny juels)

pun [euonisuelr]

‘Buleqg|em pue yjesy pue Aoesswnu ‘AoeIs}l| :WNNJLLIND 8y} JO Seale 2109
98JU] [|e O] uolejaJ Ul SBWo9IN0 |euoeonpa Jiayl arocidwi o) ualpiyo Buioddns ybnolyy ‘deb juswuiene peajejal Auanod ayy ul uononpas e Bunebie) ‘saAneniul
BAl} SSOJOB ‘S82JN0SAJ pue SUOUBAIBIUI ‘SBIlIAIOE spiemo) sI Buipuny ay] -Buipung Ajinb3 jidng abusjieyd juswuiely Ysiiioos ayl Yyim uondosuuod ul juelb vy

puNJ AJNbI idng

‘pund |eyde) ay} 0} pallajsuel) Sem s}osse

9S8y} JO anjeA Y00(q }au 8y} ‘pus Jeak ay} Jy ‘sjesse paxiy ajqibuel uiyym Joj pajunodde pue juads usaq aAey pasiel Spuny ||e pue ‘pasojd mou si [eadde siy|
‘[ooyos yum adoo oy buibbniis ale pue AlisieApe paousuadxe aney oym Alunuwiwod

oy} ul aidoad BunoA aiow yoeas pue ualIp[IYD JBP|O YIIM YIOM 0} asiuadxa Jno pusixe pue dojaasp 0] SN MOj[e OS[e [[IM SIY| 'Jooyds Ino Je Uoljepowwodoe
[BIlUSPISSI PUBIXd OS|E puB ‘SUe aAleald pue Buluies| paseq s|Ms ‘uoneonpa Alepuodas 4oy saniioe) paaoidwi apiaoid 0} gnH Buluies e pjing o} |eadde uy

pun [eaddy ojI] JoJ buiuies

‘pund |eydes ayj 0} pallajsuel} Sem S}OSSe 9say) JO aNjeA Y00(
18U 8y} ‘pud Jeak ay) 1y "s}esse paxi a|qibue) ulyym Jo) pajunodoe sem alnyipuadxe siy) pue Jeahk ay) buunp juads Ajny aiem spuny ay] ‘jenusjod Jisy) asieal
pue Bulules| 0} sJalleq JIdY] BWO0IBA0 spaau uoddns jeuonippe yum ajdoad BunoA pue ualpjiyo uoddns yoiym sjuswanoidwi [eyided Jaaljap 01 uaAlb sijuelb siy|

jUei9) [ende)) - JUslUISA0D) (SH00S
spun4 pajoLisay

(penunuos) spuny jo Arewwing

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

g ebed

‘pud Jeak e pun4 |jeuden ayj 0} palisjsuel) Sem anjeA ay) pue papuadxa
alom spunj asay) jo uoiuodold e ‘yeah ay) Buung -saiddns || se [jom se sBum pue sainixy yym Ayjioe) Buiuies| Alepuodsas mau ay) Jo 1IN0 1Y 8y} puny 0]

sSBumii] pue sainjXiJ — qnH buiuies

“J18Y10 yoeas pue AuswuieH yym abebus 0} anuiuods oy sjidnd Jawioy
J0} yomjau poddns e ysijgelss 0} pue ‘uonisued) Juswaoeld e Jaye pue Buunp Gz o} dn pabe ajdoad BunoA Joj uoddns s AuswieH puedxe pue asueyus o]

pund1o9loid Ny3¥3H

"MaINSY aled) juspuadapu| ay) pue
uonelsibs| a1ed Buinuiuog Jo jnsal e se sabueyd [eulaixe ay} 0] asuodsal ul os|e s| pue ‘ewwelbold uiody snolique mau Uno jo ued sisiy] gl jo abe ay) 0} dn
AuawueH je urewsau 0} gidoad BunoA Buimojie ‘wnnoINd AJlBpuodas Mau e Jo uoieald ay) Joddns 0} Jeak auo o} 19210 Juawdojpasg wninouwing e Aojdwe o

punj asiwolg

"Juswdinba Jayjo pue sa2inosal | | ‘sjeusjew Buiues|o ‘gJdd ‘ewn yels se yons ‘olwspued
61-pIn0D By} 0} Buipuodsal Jo }nsal e se painoul ain)puadxa 0} Bunejal s}s09 jeuolippe ypm AuswieH poddns 0} sem SSY9) B SB JUSWUIBA0L) USI09S WOl
Buipuny jeuonippe ay “Ajlenuia paysuuod aidoad BunoA pue ualp|iyo ay) desy o) pue yiom Adelsy) isijeroads Jo) spuny 8say) pasn ap) “olwapued ay} 0} puodsal
way) poddns 0} pue sdnoib sjgelsulnA 1Sow ay) yoeal 0} suonesiueblo 10}0as pdiy} Aq UOiOe |BOO| pue |euOllBU 3|geud 0} sem puny Buisqiep ayl (SSYO)
|[ooyos |eoadg paply juels) e se AuswieH Joj Buipuny [euonippe pue pun{ Buiaqgopn 8yl QUSWUIBAOLS) USHI00S 8y} WO} S80IN0S OM} 0} Salejal puny Siyl

pund buisqiiep / 61 PIAOD

‘pus Jeah ay) e pun4
[ende) ayy 0} palisjsuel) sem anjea ay) pue ‘jeadde a1 40} Buiulea] ay) uo pspuadxa alem spuny awos Jeak ay) Bulng ‘jeuonelado aseyd 1xau ay} Buab osje
pue jo8loid ayj jo aseyd juauind ay) jo Buisijeul ay) Buipunouns Auenoiued jos8foid ui0dy [[eJano ay) yum diay 0} Jouop ajeAld B wol) uolijeuop e Sem puny Siy|

TONeuop SNOWAUOUY

(penunuos) spuny jo Arewwing

Y202 HOJYVIN 1€ A3AN3 JV3IA 3HL JOd
SLIN3IN3LVLS TVIONVNI4 3HL Ol S310N

(99jueaenb Aq paywi] Auedwod y)
G3LINIT LSNYL NOILVYONA3 ANIINHNVH




Docusign Envelope ID: 0AA6286C-450E-4F5A-B399-B3DA801829B4

HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

23.

Analysis of net assets between funds

Analysis of net assets between funds - current period

Tangible fixed assets

Fixed asset investments

Current assets

Creditors due within one year
Creditors due in more than one year
Provisions for liabilities and charges

Total

Analysis of net assets between funds - prior period

Tangible fixed assets

Fixed asset investments

Current assets

Creditors due within one year
Creditors due in more than one year
Provisions for liabilities and charges

Total

Unrestricted Restricted Endowment Total
funds funds funds funds
2024 2024 2024 2024
£ £ £ £
7,941,153 - 38,401 7,979,554
814,340 - - 814,340
3,869,251 238,793 - 4,108,044
(544,281) - - (544,281)
(40,000) - - (40,000)
(18,410) - - (18,410)
12,022,053 238,793 38,401 12,299,247
Unrestricted Restricted Endowment Total
funds funds funds funds
2023 2023 2023 2023
£ £ £ £
6,044,250 - 38,401 6,082,651
798,236 - - 798,236
3,851,170 949,239 - 4,800,409
(433,163) - - (433,163)
(50,000) - - (50,000)
(122,370) - - (122,370)
10,088,123 949,239 38,401 11,075,763
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

24,

25,

Reconciliation of net movement in funds to net cash flow from operating activities

2024 2023
£ £

Adjustments for:
Net income for the period (as per Statement of Financial Activities) 1,223,488 2,164,940
Depreciation charges 224,215 178,008
Gains on investments 307 67,098
Dividends, interests and rents from investments (89,034) (38,644)
Decrease/(increase) in stocks 220 (111)
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (75,249) 121,192
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 101,118 29,403
Defined benefit pension - unwinding of discount factor 3,491 3,875
Defined benefit pension - deficit contributions (107,455) (104,325)
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,281,101 2,421,536
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023

£ £

Cash in hand 2,158,508 4,346,096
Term deposits 920,194 -
Term deposits (more than 3 months) 500,000 -
Total cash and cash equivalents 3,578,702 4,346,096
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

26. Analysis of changes in net debt

At 1 April At 31 March
2023 Cash flows 2024
£ £
£
Cash at bank and in hand 4,346,096 (1,267,394) 3,078,702
Fixed term deposits - 500,000 500,000

4,346,096 (767,394) 3,578,702

27. Contingent liabilities

Harmeny Education Trust Limited is a participating employer in the SVSPS Final Salary Pension Scheme.
The scheme is now closed and plans are in place to meet the past service funding deficit (see note 14).

The Trust has been notified by the Pensions Trust that the estimated employer debt which would have
been payable if the Trust had withdrawn from the SVSPS Scheme as at 30 September 2023 was
£1,326,215 (2023 - £1,871,229).

The Trust has decided not to withdraw from the scheme.
The employer debt figure is calculated on the ‘withdrawal’ basis or section 75 (s75) basis. The s75 debt
calculation is based on the Scheme Actuary’s estimate of the pricing basis used to secure pension

liabilities in full, in one transaction, with an insurance company, including any orphan liabilities, as at 30
September 2023 for all current and former the Trust’s pension scheme members.

28. Operating lease commitments

At 31 March 2024 the Trust had commitments to make future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases as follows:

2024 2023

£ £

Not later than 1 year 6,276 6,276
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 6,537 19,088
12,813 25,364

29. Controlling party

In the opinion of the directors there is no ultimate controlling party.
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HARMENY EDUCATION TRUST LIMITED
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

30.

Principal subsidiaries

The following was a subsidiary undertaking of the Trust:
Name

Harmeny Services Ltd

The financial results of the subsidiary for the year were:

Name

Harmeny Services Ltd

Profit/loss of Harmeny Services Ltd for the year ended 31 March 2024 was £nil.

Holding

100%

Net assets
£

2

Page 56



	CONTENTS
	Trustee Details
	TRUSTEES' REPORT
	Opinion
	Basis for opinion
	Conclusions relating to going concern
	Other information
	Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
	Matters on which we are required to report by exception
	Responsibilities of trustees
	Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
	Use of our report

	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES (INCORPORATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT)
	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES (INCORPORATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT) (CONTINUED)
	BALANCE SHEET
	BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
	STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	General information
	Accounting policies
	Basis of preparation of financial statements
	Going concern
	Consolidation
	Consolidation
	Income
	Expenditure
	Government grants
	Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
	Investments
	Stocks
	Debtors
	Current asset investments
	Current asset investments
	Cash at bank and in hand
	Creditors and provisions
	Creditors and provisions
	Financial instruments
	Pensions
	Fund accounting
	Operating leases: the Trust as a lessee
	Operating leases: the Trust as a lessee
	Employee benefits
	Employee benefits

	Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement
	Income from donations and legacies
	Income from charitable activities
	Investment income
	Expenditure on raising funds
	Investment management costs
	Extra Sofa Note
	Analysis of expenditure on charitable activities
	Analysis of expenditure on charitable activities by activity
	Auditor's remuneration
	Staff costs
	XTRANOTE
	Staff costs (continued)
	Trustees' remuneration and expenses
	Pensions
	Deficit Contribution Schedule
	XTRANOTE
	Tangible fixed assets
	Tangible fixed assets (continued)
	Fixed asset investments
	Stocks
	Debtors
	Current asset investments
	Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
	Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
	Statement of funds
	Statement of funds - current year
	Statement of funds - prior year

	Summary of funds
	Summary of funds - current year
	Summary of funds - prior year

	Analysis of net assets between funds
	Notes to the statement of cash flows
	Contingent liabilities
	Operating lease commitments
	Controlling party
	Principal subsidiaries

		2024-09-24T13:19:20-0700
	Digitally verifiable PDF exported from www.docusign.com




